Journal of Microbiological Methods xxx (2008) xxx-xxx



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Microbiological Methods

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jmicmeth



Review

Rapid culture-based methods for drug-resistance detection in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*

Juan Carlos Palomino a,*, Anandi Martin a,b, Andrea Von Groll a, Francoise Portaels a

^a Mycobacteriology Unit, Institute of Tropical Medicine, Nationalestraat 155, 2000 Antwerp, Belgium

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 7 February 2008 Received in revised form 2 June 2008 Accepted 20 June 2008 Available online xxxx

Keywords: Culture methods Drug-resistance M. tuberculosis

ABSTRACT

Tuberculosis still represents a major public health problem, especially in low-resource countries where the burden of the disease is more important. Multidrug-resistant and extensively drug drug-resistant tuberculosis constitute serious problems for the efficient control of the disease stressing the need to investigate resistance to first- and second-line drugs. Conventional methods for detecting drug-resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* are slow and cumbersome. The most commonly used proportion method on Löwenstein–Jensen medium or Middlebrook agar requires a minimum of 3–4 weeks to produce results. Several new approaches have been proposed in the last years for the rapid and timely detection of drug-resistance in tuberculosis. This review will address phenotypic culture-based methods for rapid drug susceptibility testing in *M. tuberculosis*.

© 2008 Published by Elsevier B.V.

Contents

Introduction

1.	muou	dection					
2.	Liquid	l culture-based methods					
	2.1.	The Mycobacteria Growth Indicator Tube (MGIT)					
	2.2.	The BACTEC MGIT960 automated system					
	2.3.	The BacT/Alert 3D system					
	2.4.	The Versa TREK system					
	2.5.	The microscopic observation broth-drug susceptibility assay (MODS)					
	2.6.	The colorimetric redox indicator methods					
	2.7.	Slide-culture technique					
3.	Solid o	culture-based methods					
	3.1.	Mycobacteriophage-based methods					
	3.2.	The FastPlaque assay					
	3.3.	Luciferase reporter phages					
	3.4.	The E-test					
	3.5.	The nitrate reductase assay					
	3.6.	The microcolony method					
	3.7.	The TK medium					
4.	Future	e perspectives					
Ackn	owledg	gements					
Refe	rences						

1. Introduction

Tuberculosis (TB) represents a major public health problem, especially in low-resource countries where the burden of the disease is more important. According to estimates of the World Health Organisation (WHO), two billion people, roughly one third of the

0167-7012/\$ – see front matter © 2008 Published by Elsevier B.V. doi:10.1016/j.mimet.2008.06.015

^b Médecins sans Frontières, Paris, France

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +32 3 2476334; fax: +32 3 2476333. E-mail address: jcpalomino@itg.be (J.C. Palomino).

world's population is latently infected with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* the causative agent of the disease. In 2005 there were 8.9 million new cases of TB and 1.6 million deaths were attributed to the disease (World Health Organization, 2007a,b). This scenario is aggravated by the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) pandemic with roughly one third of the 40 million people currently infected with HIV also coinfected with TB (Friedland et al., 2007). Multidrug-resistant (MDR)-TB patients, those harbouring strains of *M. tuberculosis* resistant to at least rifampicin (RIF) and isoniazid (INH), two essential drugs in the treatment of TB, constitute a serious problem for the efficient control of the disease.

The latest report on anti-tuberculosis drug-resistance in the world prepared by the WHO/IUATLD Global Project on anti-tuberculosis drug-resistance surveillance, shows that MDR-TB has reached levels of up to 14% amongst new patients and rates as high as 50% in previously-treated patients in some settings (World Health Organization, 2004). In addition, the recent description of XDR strains, standing for 'extensively drug drug-resistant' stresses the need to also investigate resistance to second-line drugs. XDR-TB is defined as resistance to at least INH and RIF, in addition to resistance to any fluoroquinolone and to at least one of the three injectable drugs used in the treatment of TB: capreomycin, kanamycin and amikacin (World Health Organization, 2006). Thus, early detection of drug-resistance to first- and second-line drugs in *M. tuberculosis* represents a major priority for TB control programmes.

Conventional methods for detecting drug-resistance in M. tuberculosis are slow and cumbersome. Laboratory diagnosis is further complicated by the fastidious growth of the tubercle bacillus. For TB diagnostics laboratories in high-burden countries, primary isolation is the first step before performing drug susceptibility testing (DST) of M. tuberculosis. The traditionally accepted methods include the proportion method, the absolute concentration method, the resistance ratio method and the radiometric BACTEC TB-460 system (Becton Dickinson, Sparks, MD) (Canetti et al., 1969; Kent and Kubica, 1985; Heifets and Cangelosi, 1999). The most commonly used proportion method on Löwenstein-Jensen (LJ) medium or Middlebrook agar requires a minimum of 3-4 weeks to produce results. The radiometric BACTEC TB-460 system, on the other hand, using an enriched liquid medium decreased the turnaround time (TAT), but the fact that it relies on radioactive materials represented an inconvenience for its wider application especially in low-resource countries.

Due to the TAT required by conventional DST methods several new approaches have been proposed in the last years for the rapid and early detection of drug drug-resistant M. tuberculosis (Palomino, 2005). Among these, both phenotypic and genotypic methods have been introduced. The latter look for genetic determinants of resistance rather than the resistance phenotype involving nucleic acid amplification to detect gene mutations known to be associated with drugresistance, while phenotypic methods are based on detection of growth in the presence or absence of antibiotics (Garcia de Viedma, 2003; Palomino, 2006). The costs involved in setting up genotypic methods and their requirement for skilled personnel have precluded their wider implementation in clinical mycobacteriology laboratories, especially in low-resource countries where the TB situation and the problem of drug-resistance are of major concern. Phenotypic methods are receiving renewed attention since in general they are simple to perform, allow for several drugs being tested simultaneously, and in principle they are applicable to all drugs. This review will address phenotypic culture-based methods for the rapid detection of drugresistance in M. tuberculosis.

2. Liquid culture-based methods

Several liquid culture-based methods for cultivation and DST of *M. tuberculosis* have been introduced during the last years. Most of them are commercially available and rely on the fact that faster growth is

usually obtained in liquid medium. Some of them are simple manual methods while others rely on more sophisticated automated systems. Recent recommendations by the WHO encourage the use of liquid culture media for cultivation and DST of *M. tuberculosis* in low- and middle-income settings (World Health Organization, 2007b).

2.1. The Mycobacteria Growth Indicator Tube (MGIT)

The MGIT manual system (Becton Dickinson, Sparks, MD) was one of the first commercial liquid systems introduced for the rapid detection of mycobacterial growth. It is based on a fluorescence quenching-based oxygen sensor embedded at the bottom of the tube containing an enriched Middlebrook 7H9 broth. Consumption of the dissolved oxygen by the growing mycobacteria produces an orange fluorescence when illuminated with an UV lamp (Palomino, 2000). The MGIT manual system was subsequently applied for rapid DST of M. tuberculosis. For this purpose, a set of tubes composed of a growth control and drug-containing tubes are inoculated with the M. tuberculosis isolate and incubated at 37 °C. Growth is detected by comparing the fluorescence in the drug-containing tubes and growth control allowing determination of susceptibility or resistance. Several studies have evaluated the MGIT manual system for DST of M. tuberculosis against the first-line drugs INH, RIF, ethambutol (EMB) and streptomycin (SM) with good results (Reisner et al., 1995; Palaci et al., 1996; Palomino et al., 1999). These studies found good accuracy for detecting resistance, especially for INH and RIF. There are very few published studies evaluating the manual MGIT method for DST of a second-line drug (Bastian et al., 2001; Martin et al., 2005a,b). It has performed, however, very well for kanamycin and ofloxacin, showing that although not frequently used, it could represent a simple and reliable method for DST to second-line anti-tuberculosis drugs. Very few studies also exist evaluating the manual MGIT directly in sputum samples (Goloubeva et al., 2001; El-Sayed Zaki and Goda, 2007). These studies have applied manual MGIT on smear-positive sputum samples and results have been obtained on an average of 5-8 days with accuracy above 90% for detecting resistance to RIF and INH. The manual MGIT, thus, remains an interesting option for the rapid detection of drug-resistant M. tuberculosis with the possibility to be applied directly on sputum samples.

$2.2.\ The\ BACTEC\ MGIT960\ automated\ system$

Soon after the MGIT manual system was developed and tested for diagnosis and DST of M. tuberculosis an automated system based on the same principle was proposed. The BACTEC MGIT960 system (Becton Dickinson, Sparks, MD) performs incubation and reading of the tubes continuously inside the machine using a predefined algorithm to interpret the fluorescent signal and giving the results as positive or negative (Tortoli et al., 1999). When performing DST, the BACTEC MGIT960 interprets the results as susceptible or resistant to the antibiotic under study. Results are available within 8 days (Ardito et al., 2001). Many studies have been performed for evaluating the BACTEC MGIT960 system for DST of M. tuberculosis (Tortoli et al., 2002; Johansen et al., 2004; Scarparo et al., 2004). A recent meta-analysis of the published studies found high accuracy and high predictive values associated with the use of BACTEC MGIT960 (Piersimoni et al., 2006). Also, a multicentre validation has been performed to test susceptibilities of M. tuberculosis to classical second-line drugs giving accurate results as compared to the BACTEC TB-460 radiometric method (Rusch-Gerdes et al., 2006). The BACTEC MGIT960 system is now practically replacing the radiometric BACTEC TB-460 as a rapid and reliable method for diagnosis and DST of M. tuberculosis. The investment required for obtaining the equipment and its large capacity for workload may limit, however, its adoption by small- and medium-sized diagnostic laboratories especially in high-burden low-resource countries. Efforts to address this issue are currently under development (FIND, 2008).

I.C. Palomino et al. / Journal of Microbiological Methods xxx (2008) xxx-xxx

2.3. The BacT/Alert 3D system

Formerly known as the MB/BacT system (bioMerieux, Durham, N.C.) it is an automated commercial liquid culture-based system originally developed for blood cultures and later applied for diagnosis and DST of M. tuberculosis. The system uses a modified 7H9 Middlebrook broth and incorporates a colorimetric sensor at the bottom of the vial that measures changes in CO₂ production by the metabolizing mycobacteria. A change in colour from green to yellow indicates a positive reaction and each vial is continuously monitored inside the apparatus (Rohner et al., 1997). Several studies have evaluated the BacT/Alert 3D system for rapid DST of M. tuberculosis to first-line drugs including pyrazinamide (Ängeby et al., 2003; Bemer et al., 2004; Brunello and Fontana, 2000). Although using different critical concentrations and timing for reading of results the BacT/Alert 3D system has also shown good sensitivity and specificity; however, further evaluations would be desirable to fully assess the usefulness of this system for rapid DST of M. tuberculosis. Also, no studies have been published yet for DST to second-line drugs.

2.4. The Versa TREK system

It was formerly known as the ESP culture system II (Trek Diagnostic systems, West Lake, OH). Also based on an automated format originally developed for blood culture and later applied for detection and DST of *M. tuberculosis*, it uses an enriched 7H9 Middlebrook broth for detection of growth by measuring pressure changes inside the culture vial due to mycobacterial metabolism. Incubation and reading is accomplished inside the same apparatus (Woods et al., 1997). Fewer studies have evaluated the Versa TREK system for DST of *M. tuberculosis* against first-line drugs (Bergmann and Woods, 1998; Ruiz et al., 2000; LaBombardi, 2002). Moreover, one of these studies reported a high proportion of discordant results for INH (Ruiz et al., 2000). For this reason, further studies are needed to evaluate the real usefulness of this system for DST of *M. tuberculosis*.

2.5. The microscopic observation broth-drug susceptibility assay (MODS)

MODS is an 'in-house' method based on the observation of the characteristic cord formation of M. tuberculosis when growing in a liquid medium (Caviedes et al., 2000). The test was originally described for detection and DST of M. tuberculosis in sputum samples. For performance of DST, decontaminated sputum samples are inoculated into 7H9 liquid medium in 24-well plates with or without antibiotics and incubated at 37 °C in a CO2 incubator. Reading of the plates is performed with an inverted microscope at 40× magnification to identify the typical cord formation of M. tuberculosis. Growth in the drug-containing wells and in the growth control is interpreted as resistance. MODS has been evaluated against first-line drugs although better results have been obtained for RIF and INH (Moore et al., 2004, 2006). Although fairly accurate to detect resistance, especially to RIF, the requirement of an inverted microscope to read the plates and biosafety concerns related to the use of liquid medium in 24-well plates may hamper, however, its application outside large reference laboratories with the necessary logistic facilities.

2.6. The colorimetric redox indicator methods

These rapid colorimetric tests rely on the use of a coloured oxidation–reduction indicator that is added to the culture medium after *M. tuberculosis* has grown in the presence or absence of antibiotics. Reduction of the redox indicator will produce a change of colour in the medium that is easily interpreted visually. If the bacteria grow in the presence of the antibiotic as compared to the growth control it is considered as resistant to this drug. These assays can be performed in microtiter plates or in culture tubes with results

available in 7-8 days. The method allows easily determining the minimal inhibitory concentrations (MICs) of anti-tuberculosis drugs (Palomino et al., 2007). Various redox indicators have been proposed, with Alamar blue (Yajko et al., 1995; Franzblau et al., 1998), 3-(4,5dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) (Mshana et al., 1998; Foongladda et al., 2002) and resazurin (Palomino et al., 2002; Banfi et al., 2003) giving the most reliable and accurate results for DST of INH and RIF. The redox indicator resazurin has also been used to assess DST to second-line drugs (Martin et al., 2003). Resazurin has also been used in a modified colorimetric assay to determine resistance to pyrazinamide using nicotinamide (Martin et al., 2006). In a multicentre study performed in seven laboratories in middle- and low-income countries, redox indicator-based assays performed well with an overall accuracy of 97% for detecting MDR-TB (Martin et al., 2005a,b). A recent meta-analysis of colorimetric methods using redox indicators for DST of M. tuberculosis showed that there is evidence of high sensitivity and specificity of these methods (Martin et al., 2007).

2.7. Slide-culture technique

This is an older method recently modified and evaluated for rapid detection of MDR-TB in sputum samples (Hamid Salim et al., 2006). It uses Sula liquid medium with added antibiotics to control contamination. For each sample tested, ten sputum smears are made on one end of autoclaved slides, cut in half longitudinally, decontaminated with 5% aqueous sulphuric acid for 15 min, washed in water, and placed individually in sterile glass bottles containing 7 ml of medium. Three bottles without antibiotics as growth controls, and additional individual bottles containing medium plus INH at 0.2 and 1 µg/ml; RIF at 1 µg/ml; EMB at 2, 5, and 10 µg/ml, and SM at 2 µg/ml are also set up. After overnight refrigeration, all bottles are incubated at 37 °C for 10 days, and heated at 85 °C for 30 min before opening. Dried smears are heat-fixed, stained by Ziehl-Neelsen and examined at 100× magnification for counting acid-fast microcolonies. Any number of well-developed colonies in the drug-containing bottles with at least one colony per low-power field in the growth control is interpreted as resistance. When applied on fresh smear-positive sputum samples the slide-DST technique gave an accuracy of 96% for detecting resistance to RIF. For INH, however, the accuracy was only 90% and much lower for EMB and SM. Although simple in its principle and interpretation of results, this technique follows a cumbersome procedure and requires the preparation of a large number of slides for each sample making it less appropriate to analyze several samples at the same time. Furthermore, there are biosafety concerns, since the same study found that there were still live M. tuberculosis bacilli able to grow colonies on LI medium even after the slides were heated at 85 °C for 30 min previous to microscopical examination.

3. Solid culture-based methods

New alternative methods for rapid DST of *M. tuberculosis* using solid culture media have also been recently proposed. The majority of these alternative procedures have been developed as 'in-house' methods with the purpose of shortening the TAT to obtain final results.

3.1. Mycobacteriophage-based methods

Two formats of phage-based methods have been proposed as rapid techniques for drug-resistance detection in *M. tuberculosis*, the phage-amplification method and the luciferase reporter method. Phage-amplification methods are based on the replication of the phage D29 inside viable mycobacteria while the luciferase reporter method relies on the production of light by an engineered phage containing the luciferase gene (Palomino, 2005).

3.2. The FastPlague assay

This is a commercial system based on the method originally described by Wilson et al. (1997) for rapid DST of M. tuberculosis (Wilson et al., 1997). The FASTPlaque-Response (Biotec, Ipswich, UK) is a phage-based assay to detect resistance to RIF in smear-positive sputum samples. According to the recommended procedure, decontaminated sputum samples are incubated in the presence or absence of RIF and then with a suspension of the phages. After a period of time to allow infection of M. tuberculosis, the extracellular phages remaining are removed with a virucidal solution and the replicating phages are detected as plaques of lysis when plated with an indicator non-pathogenic mycobacterium such as M. smegmatis. Results are read visually within 2 days. The presence of viable M. tuberculosis after incubation with RIF is interpreted as resistance to this drug. Several studies have evaluated the FASTPlaque assay as well as modifications of the 'in-house' phage method with variable results (Albert et al., 2001, 2004; Galí et al., 2003; Simboli et al., 2005; McNerney et al., 2007). In a recent meta-analysis six evaluation studies were considered, all looking at resistance to RIF. A sensitivity of 97-100% and specificity of 84-100% was reported (Pai et al., 2005). However, very few studies have been done with other antibiotics.

3.3. Luciferase reporter phages

Tests based on luciferase reporter phages have been less evaluated. They rely on infection of *M. tuberculosis* with phages harbouring the luciferase gene. Viable mycobacteria will allow replication of the phages and production of light in the presence of cellular ATP and the substrate luciferin that is added to the medium (Riska et al., 1999). When incubated in the presence of RIF this production of light will be inhibited in susceptible isolates (Bardarov et al., 2003; Hazbón et al., 2003). Seven studies were identified in the meta-analysis mentioned above reporting sensitivity of 100% and specificity of 89–100% (Pai et al., 2005). Due to the methodology employed and the requirement for engineered phages, this technique has not gained wide application yet in diagnostic clinical laboratories, and seems more appropriate for research laboratories with the capacity and technical expertise required for its execution.

3.4. The E-test

Although not developed exclusively for *M. tuberculosis* the E-test is a commercial system allowing rapid DST to several antibiotics (Yeung et al., 1993). It relies on plastic strips that have an impregnated gradient of the antibiotic allowing reading of MICs directly at the zone of growth inhibition when applied on the surface of an agar plate. When testing *M. tuberculosis* an inoculum equivalent to 3.0 McFarland was recommended with results available within 5–10 days (Wanger and Mills, 1996). More recent evaluations have found a good correlation with the reference proportion method in agar when testing susceptibility to first-line drugs (Joloba et al., 2000; Hazbón et al., 2000). However, the requirement of a very high inoculum concentration may represent a disadvantage, especially when dealing with potentially highly drug-resistant strains such as MDR and XDR *M. tuberculosis*.

3.5. The nitrate reductase assay

The nitrate reductase assay (NRA) is another simple procedure recently proposed as a rapid method for DST of *M. tuberculosis*. It is based on the capacity of *M. tuberculosis* to reduce nitrate to nitrite which is then easily detected in a coloured reaction (Ängeby et al., 2002). The NRA, also known as the Griess reaction, has been used before in the panel of biochemical tests for the identification of *M. tuberculosis* (Kent and Kubica, 1985). The NRA has been evaluated in recent studies to detect resistance to first-line drugs and ofloxacin showing a good concordance with the reference proportion method

(Martin et al., 2005a,b; Ängeby et al., 2002; Montoro et al., 2005; Lemus et al., 2006). An interesting possibility of the NRA is its direct application on sputum samples. This has been accomplished recently in three different studies performed in middle- and low-income settings with encouraging results for detecting resistance to RIF and INH (Musa et al., 2005; Solis et al., 2005; Affolabi et al., 2007).

3.6. The microcolony method

Also known as the thin-layer agar method, on which the MODS assay described above is based, it is performed on Middlebrook 7H11 agar. It was originally described for the rapid detection of mycobacterial growth and later applied as a rapid DST method (Welch et al., 1993; Mejia et al., 1999). When tested directly on sputum samples it detected multidrug-resistance within 13 days in smear-positive samples and in 38 days in smear-negative samples (Schaberg et al., 1995). Further studies in target populations are necessary to assess the feasibility of implementation and accuracy of this method for rapid detection of drug-resistance in *M. tuberculosis*.

3.7. The TK medium

This is a commercial system based on solid media containing dye indicators. The metabolic activity of the mycobacteria will produce a change in the original colour of the medium (red) that allows differentiating mycobacterial growth (yellow) from growth of contaminants (green) (Baylan et al., 2004). TK INH, TK RIF, TK STR and TK EMB are individual tubes of the TK medium containing first-line

 Table 1

 Main culture-based methods for rapid drug-resistance detection of M. tuberculosis

Method	Format	Antibiotic	TAT ^a (days)	Reference			
MGIT manual	Liquid in tubes	RIF ^b , INH, EMB, SM, KAN, OFLO	5-8°	9,18,25,37,48,49,57			
MGIT automated	Liquid in tubes automated	RIF, INH, EMB, SM, PZA, AMK, CAP, ETH, PTH, OFLO, RIB, LIN	5–8	6,30,56,61,62,67			
BacT/Alert 3D	Liquid in tubes automated	RIF, INH, EMB, SM, PZA	6-8	5,11,13,59			
Versa TREK	Liquid in tubes automated	RIF, INH, EMB, SM,	4–8	12,33,60,71			
MODS	Liquid in 24-well plates	RIF, INH, EMB, SM,	7-9 ^d	15,43,44			
Colorimetric	Liquid in 96-well plates	RIF, INH, EMB, SM, PZA, KAN, OFLO, CAP, ETH, PAS	4-8	7,20,21,35,37– 39,52,55,77			
Slide-culture	Liquid on microscopic slides	RIF, INH, EMB, SM	10	26			
FASTPlaque	Solid in plates	RIF	2-3	2,3			
In-house phage-based method	Solid in plates Liquid in microplate	RIF	2-3	23,40,64			
Luciferase reporter phage	Liquid in membranes or microplate	RIF	2-3	8,47,58			
E-test	Solid in plates	RIF, INH, EMB, SM, OFLO, CIP	5–10	27,31,68			
Nitrate reductase	Solid in tubes	RIF, INH, EMB, SM, OFLO	7–10 ^e	4,34,42			
Microcolony (TLA)	Solid in plates	RIF, INH, EMB, SM, PZA	13	63			
TK medium	Solid in tubes	RIF, INH, EMB, SM	7	10			

^a TAT, turnaround time.

- ^c 6–9 days when performed directly in sputum samples.
- ^d Performed directly in sputum samples.
- ^e 14–28 days when performed directly in sputum samples.

^b RIF, rifampicin; INH, isoniazid; EMB, ethambutol; SM, streptomycin; KAN, kanamycin; OFLO, ofloxacin; PZA, pyrazinamide: AMK, amikacin; CAP, capreomycin; ETH, ethionamide; PTH, prothionamide; RIB, rifabutin; LIN, linezolid; PAS, *para*-amino salicylic acid.

J.C. Palomino et al. / Journal of Microbiological Methods xxx (2008) xxx-xxx

antibiotics and presented as a rapid kit to detect resistance to these drugs. Unfortunately there is only one published study evaluating this method and with a very small number of isolates (Baylan et al., 2004).

Table 1 shows and overview of the main rapid culture-based methods for rapid DST of *M. tuberculosis*.

4. Future perspectives

The search for alternative and faster methods for drug-resistance detection of *M. tuberculosis* is a continuing endeavour due to the long TAT of conventional methods and the difficulties of implementing newer molecular techniques on a routine basis, especially in low-resource countries where the burden of TB and drug-resistance is more demanding.

In this context, several newer culture-based methods have been proposed and thoroughly evaluated in several settings. Among the commercially available methods described above, the MGIT system, both in its manual and automated versions, have shown high sensitivity and specificity in detecting resistance to RIF and INH, the two most important drugs in the treatment of TB. DST to other firstand second-line drugs have also shown good accuracy, although additional studies are needed for second-line drugs to determine the optimal critical concentrations to be tested (Rusch-Gerdes et al., 2006). More studies are also needed to assess the performance of MGIT for DST of PZA and for performing DST directly on sputum samples. In spite of this, and taking into account recent recommendations of the WHO that encourage the use of liquid media for culture and DST of M. tuberculosis in low- and medium-income settings (World Health Organization, 2007b), the BACTEC MGIT960 system represents today the best alternative to replace the old radiometric BACTEC TB-460 for rapid DST of M. tuberculosis.

Another commercial system, the FastPlaque, seems to be accurate in detecting resistance to RIF. Almost no studies have been performed with other drugs. One recent study evaluating the 'in-house' version of this method reported lower accuracy, with sensitivity of 80.4% and specificity of 80.8% for INH (Chauca et al., 2007). More studies of the FastPlaque assay are warranted in different settings to assess its performance and feasibility of implementation on a routine basis in TB diagnostic laboratories.

Methods based on the early detection of growth such as MODS and the thin-layer agar that look for microcolonies of *M. tuberculosis* need further validations in different settings to confirm previous results of sensitivity and specificity to detect resistance to RIF and INH. Application of these methods to second-line drugs would also be desirable.

Colorimetric methods using redox indicators have demonstrated accuracy and reliability for rapid detection of MDR *M. tuberculosis* (Martin et al., 2007). Good results have also been obtained when testing for second-line drugs. Although the microtiter format most commonly used in this method seems more appropriate for reference laboratories with the necessary biosafety facilities, the possibility to implement a macromethod in screw-cap tubes using one critical concentration of the drug (Coban et al., 2006) makes it more feasible for implementation in small clinical diagnostic laboratories. Using one critical concentration of RIF or INH has shown to be enough to obtain 97% accuracy in a previous study with Alamar blue for detection of drug-resistance (Palomino and Portaels, 1999).

The NRA also appears as a simple method for DST of *M. tuberculosis*. One additional advantage of this method is that it uses the same culture medium and tube format commonly employed in TB diagnostic laboratories, facilitating in this way its implementation without the need for additional equipment or laboratory supplies. It seems also appropriate as a direct method to be used on sputum samples.

As we have described there are new options available for rapid DST of *M. tuberculosis* based on culture techniques. Several have proved already their reliability and accuracy in detecting drug-resistance as compared to the current methods considered as reference standard. Other methods need more evaluation to prove their accuracy and reproducibility. One important consideration to take into account should be the

feasibility of implementation of the new method whether it is of a commercial nature or not, if it is to be used for drug-resistance surveillance or for rapid drug-resistance detection, and the capabilities of the laboratory to adapt their routine work to the new techniques.

Acknowledgements

Our studies were supported by the European Commission under contract LSHP-CT-2004-516028, HEALTH-F3-2007-201690 and the Damien Foundation, Belgium.

References

- Affolabi, D., Odoun, M., Martin, A., Palomino, J.C., Anagonou, S., Portaels, F., 2007. Evaluation of direct detection of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* rifampin resistance by a nitrate reductase assay applied to sputum samples in Cotonou, Benin. J. Clin. Microbiol. 45, 2123–2125.
- Albert, H., Heydenrych, A., Mole, R., Trollip, A., Blumberg, L., 2001. Evaluation of FASTPlaqueTB-RIF, a rapid, manual test for the determination of rifampicin resistance from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* cultures. Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis. 5, 906–911.
- Albert, H., Trollip, A., Seaman, T., Mole, R.J., 2004. Simple, phage-based (FASTPlaque) technology to determine rifampicin resistance of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* directly from sputum. Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis. 8, 1114–1119.
- Ängeby, K.A., Klintz, L., Hoffner, S.E., 2002. Rapid and inexpensive drug susceptibility testing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis with a nitrate reductase assay. J. Clin. Microbiol. 40, 553–555.
- Ängeby, K.A., Werngren, J., Toro, J.C., Hedström, G., Petrini, B., Hoffner, S.E., 2003. Evaluation of the BacT/ALERT 3D system for the recovery and drug susceptibility testing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 9, 1148–1152.
- Ardito, F., Posteraro, B., Sanguinetti, M., Zanetti, S., Fadda, G., 2001. Evaluation of BACTEC Mycobacteria Growth Indicator Tube (MGIT 960) automated system for drug susceptibility testing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 39, 4440–4444.
- Banfi, E., Scialino, G., Monti-Bragadin, C., 2003. Development of a microdilution method to evaluate *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* drug susceptibility. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 52, 796–800.
- Bardarov Jr., S., Dou, H., Eisenach, K., Banaiee, N., Ya, S., Chan, J., Jacobs Jr., W.R., Riska, P.F., 2003. Detection and drug-susceptibility testing of *M. tuberculosis* from sputum samples using luciferase reporter phage: comparison with the Mycobacteria Growth Indicator Tube (MGIT) system. Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 45, 53–61.
- Bastian, I., Rigouts, L., Palomino, J.C., Portaels, F., 2001. Kanamycin susceptibility testing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* using Mycobacterium Growth Indicator Tube and a colorimetric method. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 45, 1934–1936.
- Baylan, O., Kisa, O., Albay, A., Doganci, L., 2004. Evaluation of a new automated, rapid, colorimetric culture system using solid medium for laboratory diagnosis of tuberculosis and determination of anti-tuberculosis drug susceptibility. Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis. 8, 772–777.
- Bemer, P., Bodmer, T., Munzinger, J., Perrin, M., Vincent, V., Drugeon, H., 2004. Multicenter evaluation of the MB/BacT system for susceptibility testing of *Mycobacterium* tuberculosis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 42, 1030–1034.
- Bergmann, J.S., Woods, G.L., 1998. Evaluation of the ESP culture system II for testing susceptibilities of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* isolates to four primary antituberculous drugs. J. Clin. Microbiol. 36, 2940–2943.
- Brunello, F., Fontana, R., 2000. Reliability of MB/BacT system for testing susceptibility of Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex isolates to antituberculous drugs. J. Clin. Microbiol. 38, 872–873.
- Canetti, G., Fox, W., Khomenko, A., Mahler, H.T., Menon, N.K., Mitchison, D.A., Rist, N., Smelev, N.A., 1969. Advances in techniques of testing mycobacterial drug sensitivity, and the use of sensitivity tests in tuberculosis control programmes. Bull. World Health Organ. 41, 21–43.
- Caviedes, L., Lee, T.S., Gilman, R.H., Sheen, P., Spellman, E., Lee, E.H., Berg, D.E., Montenegro-James, S., 2000. Rapid, efficient detection and drug susceptibility testing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in sputum by microscopic observation of broth cultures. J. Clin. Microbiol. 38, 1203–1208.
- Chauca, J.A., Palomino, J.C., Guerra, H., 2007. Evaluation of rifampicin and isoniazid susceptibility testing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis by a mycobacteriophage D29-based assay. J. Med. Microbiol. 56, 360–364.
- Coban, A.Y., Cekic Cihan, C., Bilgin, K., Uzun, M., Akgunes, A., Cetinkaya, E., Durupinar, B., 2006. Rapid susceptibility test for *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* to isoniazid and rifampin with resazurin method in screw-cap tubes. J. Chemother. 18, 140–143.
- El-Sayed Zaki, M., Goda, T., 2007. Rapid phenotypic assay of antimycobacterial susceptibility pattern by direct mycobacteria growth indicator tube and phage amplified biological assay compared to BACTEC 460 TB. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 87, 102–108.
- FIND, 2007. http://www.finddiagnostics.org/news/press/bd_nov07.shtml. Accessed on January 7, 2008.
- Foongladda, S., Roengsanthia, D., Arjrattanakool, W., Chuchottaworn, C., Chaiprasert, A., Franzblau, S.G., 2002. Rapid and simple MTT method for rifampicin and isoniazid susceptibility testing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis. 6, 1118–1122.
- Franzblau, S.G., Witzig, R.S., McLaughlin, J.C., Torres, P., Madico, G., Hernandez, A., Degnan, M.T., Cook, M.B., Quenzer, V.K., Ferguson, R.M., Gilman, R.H., 1998. Rapid, low-technology MIC determination with clinical *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* isolates by using the microplate Alamar blue assay. J. Clin. Microbiol. 36, 362–366.

- Friedland, G., Churchyard, G.J., Nardell, E., 2007. Tuberculosis and HIV coinfection: current state of knowledge and research priorities. J. Infect. Dis. 196, S1–S3.
- Galí, N., Dominguez, J., Blanco, S., Prat, C., Quesada, M.D., Matas, L., Ausina, V., 2003. Utility of an in-house mycobacteriophage-based assay for rapid detection of rifampin resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis clinical isolates, J. Clin. Microbiol. 41, 2647–2649.
- Garcia de Viedma, D., 2003. Rapid detection of resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: a review discussing molecular approaches. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 9, 349–359.
- Goloubeva, V., Lecocq, M., Lassowsky, P., Matthys, F., Portaels, F., Bastian, I., 2001. Evaluation of mycobacteria growth indicator tube for direct and indirect drug susceptibility testing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis from respiratory specimens in a Siberian prison hospital. J. Clin. Microbiol. 39, 1501–1505.
- Siberian prison hospital. J. Clin. Microbiol. 39, 1501–1505.

 Hamid Salim, A., Aung, K.J., Hossain, M.A., Van Deun, A., 2006. Early and rapid microscopy-based diagnosis of true treatment failure and MDR-TB. Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis. 10. 1248–1254.
- Hazbón, M.H., del Socorro Orozco, M., Labrada, L.A., Tovar, R., Weigle, K.A., Wanger, A., 2000. Evaluation of Etest for susceptibility testing of multidrug-resistant isolates of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 38, 4599–4603.
- Hazbón, M.H., Guarín, N., Ferro, B.E., Rodríguez, A.L., Labrada, L.A., Tovar, R., Riska, P.F., Jacobs Jr., W.R., 2003. Photographic and luminometric detection of luciferase reporter phages for drug susceptibility testing of clinical Mycobacterium tuberculosis isolates. J. Clin. Microbiol. 41, 4865–4869.
- Heifets, L.B., Cangelosi, G.A., 1999. Drug susceptibility testing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: a neglected problem at the turn of the century. Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis. 3, 564–581.
- Johansen, I.S., Thomsen, V.Ø., Marjamäki, M., Sosnovskaja, A., Lundgren, B., 2004. Rapid, automated, nonradiometric susceptibility testing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex to four first-line antituberculous drugs used in standard short-course chemotherapy. Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 50, 103–107.
- Joloba, M.L., Bajaksouzian, S., Jacobs, M.R., 2000. Evaluation of Etest for susceptibility testing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 38, 3834–3836.
- Kent, P.T., Kubica, G.P., 1985. Public Health Mycobacteriology. A Guide for the Level III Laboratory. US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta.
- LaBombardi, V.J., 2002. Comparison of the ESP and BACTEC system for testing susceptibilities of Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex isolates to pyrazinamide. J. Clin. Microbiol. 40, 2238–2239.
- Lemus, D., Montoro, E., Echemendia, M., Martin, A., Portaels, F., Palomino, J.C., 2006. Nitrate reductase assay for detection of drug resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: simple and inexpensive method for low-resource laboratories. J. Med. Microbiol. 55, 861–863.
- Martin, A., Camacho, M., Portaels, F., Palomino, J.C., 2003. Resazurin microtiter assay plate testing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* susceptibilities to second-line drugs: rapid, simple, and inexpensive method. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 47, 3616–3619.
- Martin, A., Morcillo, N., Lemus, D., Montoro, E., Telles, M.A., Simboli, N., Pontino, M., Porras, T., León, C., Velasco, M., Chacon, L., Barrera, L., Ritacco, V., Portaels, F., Palomino, J.C., 2005a. Multicenter study of MTT and resazurin assays for testing susceptibility to first-line anti-tuberculosis drugs. Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis. 9, 901–906.
- Martin, A., Palomino, J.C., Portaels, F., 2005b. Rapid detection of ofloxacin resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* by two low-cost colorimetric methods: resazurin and nitrate reductase assays. J. Clin. Microbiol. 43, 1612–1616.
- Martin, A., Takiff, H., Vandamme, P., Swings, J., Palomino, J.C., Portaels, F., 2006. A new rapid and simple colorimetric method to detect pyrazinamide resistance in *Myco-bacterium tuberculosis* using nicotinamide. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 58, 327–331.
- Martin, A., Portaels, F., Palomino, J.C., 2007. Colorimetric redox-indicator methods for the rapid detection of multidrug resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 59, 175–183.
- McNerney, R., Mallard, K., Urassa, H.M., Lemma, E., Donoghue, H.D., 2007. Colorimetric phage-based assay for detection of rifampin-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J. Clin. Microbiol. 45, 1330–1332.
- Mejia, G.I., Castrillon, L., Trujillo, H., Robledo, J.A., 1999. Microcolony detection in 7H11 thin layer culture is an alternative for rapid diagnosis of Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis. 3, 138–142.
- Montoro, E., Lemus, D., Echemendia, M., Martin, A., Portaels, F., Palomino, J.C., 2005. Comparative evaluation of the nitrate reduction assay, the MTT test, and the resazurin microtitre assay for drug susceptibility testing of clinical isolates of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 55, 500–505.
- Moore, D.A., Mendoza, D., Gilman, R.H., Evans, C.A., Hollm-Delgado, M.G., Guerra, J., Caviedes, L., Vargas, D., Ticona, E., Ortiz, J., Soto, G., Serpa, J., Tuberculosis Working Group in Peru, 2004. Microscopic observation drug susceptibility assay, a rapid, reliable diagnostic test for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis suitable for use in resource-poor settings. J. Clin. Microbiol. 42, 4432–4437.
- Moore, D.A., Évans, C.A., Gilman, R.H., Caviedes, L., Coronel, J., Vivar, A., Sanchez, E., Piñedo, Y., Saravia, J.C., Salazar, C., Oberhelman, R., Hollm-Delgado, M.G., LaChira, D., Escombe, A.R., Friedland, J.S., 2006. Microscopic-observation drug-susceptibility assay for the diagnosis of TB. N. Engl. J. Med. 355, 1539–1550.
- Mshana, R.N., Tadesse, G., Abate, G., Miörner, H., 1998. Use of 3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide for rapid detection of rifampin-resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 36, 1214–1219.
- Musa, H.R., Ambroggi, M., Souto, A., Angeby, K.A., 2005. Drug susceptibility testing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis by a nitrate reductase assay applied directly on microscopy-positive sputum samples. J. Clin. Microbiol. 43, 3159–3161.
- Pai, M., Kalantri, S., Pascopella, L., Riley, L.W., Reingold, A.L., 2005. Bacteriophage-based assays for the rapid detection of rifampicin resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: a meta-analysis. J. Infect. 51, 175–187.
- Palaci, M., Ueki, S.Y., Sato, D.N., Da Silva Telles, M.A., Curcio, M., Silva, E.A., 1996. Evaluation of mycobacteria growth indicator tube for recovery and drug susceptibility testing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* isolates from respiratory specimens. J. Clin. Microbiol. 34, 762–764.

- Palomino, J.C., 2000. Novel rapid antimicrobial susceptibility test for *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. In: Bastian, I., Portaels, F. (Eds.), Multidrug Resistant Tuberculosis. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp. 145–162.
- Palomino, J.C., 2005. Nonconventional and new methods in the diagnosis of tuberculosis; feasibility and applicability in the field. Eur. Respir. J. 26, 1–12.
- Palomino, J.C., 2006. Newer diagnostics for tuberculosis and multi-drug resistant tuberculosis. Curr. Opin. Pulm. Med. 12, 172–178.
 Palomino, J.C., Portaels, F., 1999. Simple procedure for drug susceptibility testing of
- Palomino, J.C., Portaels, F., 1999. Simple procedure for drug susceptibility testing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis using a commercial colorimetric assay. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 18, 380–383.
- Palomino, J.C., Traore, H., Fissette, K., Portaels, F., 1999. Evaluation of Mycobacteria Growth Indicator Tube (MGIT) for drug susceptibility testing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis. 3, 344–348.
- Palomino, J.C., Martin, A., Camacho, M., Guerra, H., Swings, J., Portaels, F., 2002. Resazurin microtiter assay plate: simple and inexpensive method for detection of drug resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 46, 2720–2722.
- Palomino, J.C., Martin, A., Portaels, F., 2007. Rapid drug resistance detection in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: a review of colorimetric methods. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 13, 754–762.
- Piersimoni, C., Olivieri, A., Benacchio, L., Scarparo, C., 2006. Current perspectives on drug susceptibility testing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex: the automated nonradiometric systems. J. Clin. Microbiol. 44, 20–28.
- Reisner, B.S., Gatson, A.M., Woods, G.L., 1995. Evaluation of mycobacteria growth indicator tubes for susceptibility testing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* to isoniazid and rifampin. Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 22, 325–329.
- Riska, P.F., Su, Y., Bardarov, S., Freundlich, L., Sarkis, G., Hatfull, G., Carrière, C., Kumar, V., Chan, J., Jacobs Jr., W.R., 1999. Rapid film-based determination of antibiotic susceptibilities of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains by using a luciferase reporter phage and the Bronx Box. J. Clin. Microbiol. 37, 1144–1149.
- Rohner, P., Ninet, B., Metral, C., Emler, S., Auckenthaler, R., 1997. Evaluation of the MB/BacT system and comparison to the BACTEC 460 system and solid media for isolation of mycobacteria from clinical specimens. J. Clin. Microbiol. 35, 3127–3131.
- Ruiz, P., Zerolo, J., Casal, M.J., 2000. Comparison of susceptibility testing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis using the ESP culture system II with that using the BACTEC method. J. Clin. Microbiol. 38, 4663–46644.
- Rusch-Gerdes, S., Pfyffer, G.E., Casal, M., Chadwick, M., Siddiqi, S., 2006. Multicenter laboratory validation of the BACTEC MGIT 960 technique for testing susceptibilities of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* to classical second-line drugs and newer antimicrobials. J. Clin. Microbiol. 44, 688–692.
- Scarparo, C., Ricordi, P., Ruggiero, G., Piccoli, C., 2004. Evaluation of the fully automated BACTEC MGIT 960 system for testing susceptibility of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* to pyrazinamide, streptomycin, isoniazid, rifampin and ethambutol and comparison with the radiometric BACTEC 460TB method. J. Clin. Microbiol. 42, 1109–1114.
- Schaberg, T., Reichert, B., Schülin, T., Lode, H., Mauch, H., 1995. Rapid drug susceptibility testing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis using conventional solid media. Eur. Respir. J. 8, 1688–1693.
- Simboli, N., Takiff, H., McNerney, R., Lopez, B., Martin, A., Palomino, J.C., Barrera, L., Ritacco, V., 2005. In-house phage amplification assay is a sound alternative for detecting rifampin-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in low-resource settings. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 49, 425–427.
- Solis, L.A., Shin, S.S., Han, L.L., Llanos, F., Stowell, M., Sloutsky, A., 2005. Validation of a rapid method for detection of *M. tuberculosis* resistance to isoniazid and rifampin in Lima, Peru. Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis. 9, 760–764.
- Tortoli, E., Cichero, P., Piersimoni, C., Simonetti, M.T., Gesu, G., Nista, D., 1999. Use of BACTEC MGIT 960 for recovery of mycobacteria from clinical specimens: multicenter study. J. Clin. Microbiol. 37, 3578–3582.
- Tortoli, E., Benedetti, M., Fontanelli, A., Simonetti, M.T., 2002. Evaluation of automated BACTEC MGIT 960 system for testing susceptibility of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* to four major antituberculous drugs; comparison with the radiometric BACTEC 460TB method and the agar plate method of proportion. J. Clin. Microbiol. 40, 607–610.
- Wanger, A., Mills, K., 1996. Testing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis susceptibility to ethambutol, isoniazid, rifampin, and streptomycin by using Etest. J. Clin. Microbiol. 34, 1672–1676.
- Welch, D.F., Guruswamy, A.P., Sides, S.J., Shaw, C.H., Gilchrist, M.J., 1993. Timely culture for mycobacteria which utilizes a microcolony method. J. Clin. Microbiol. 31, 2178–2184.
- Wilson, S.M., al-Suwaidi, Z., McNerney, R., Porter, J., Drobniewski, F., 1997. Evaluation of a new rapid bacteriophage-based method for the drug susceptibility testing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Nat. Med. 3, 465–468.
- Woods, G.L., Fish, G., Plaunt, M., Murphy, T., 1997. Clinical evaluation of Difco ESP Culture System II for growth and detection of mycobacteria. J. Clin. Microbiol. 35, 121–124. World Health Organisation, 2004. Anti-tuberculosis drug resistance in the world. Third global report WHO/HTM/TB/2004. 343.
- World Health Organization, 2006. Report of the meeting of the WHO Global Task Force on XDR-TB WHO/HTM/TB/2006.375.
- World Health Organisation, 2007a. Global tuberculosis control surveillance, planning, financing. WHO/HTM/TB/2007.376.
- World Health Organisation, 2007b. Strategic & Technical Advisory Group for Tuberculosis (STAG-TB). Report on conclusions and recommendations 11–13 June 2007 WHO Headquarters Geneva, Switzerland. http://www.who.int/tb/events/stag_report_2007.pdf Accessed on 4 January 2008.
- Yajko, D.M., Madej, J.J., Lancaster, M.V., Sanders, C.A., Cawthon, V.L., Gee, B., Babst, A., Hadley, W.K., 1995. Colorimetric method for determining MICs of antimicrobial agents for Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 33, 2324–2327.
- Yeung, K.H., Ng, L.K., Dillon, J.A., 1993. Evaluation of Etest for testing antimicrobial susceptibilities of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* isolates with different growth media. J. Clin, Microbiol. 31, 3053–3055.